

MAPPA Policy

Approved by Wheatley Group Board April 2017 Updated July 2022









We can produce information on request in large print, Braille, tape and on disk. It is also available in other languages. If you need information in any of these formats please contact us on Freephone 0800 479 7979.

如果你向我們提出要求,我們可以為你提供本資訊的其他語言的版本,或者是盲文或磁帶。如果你需要本資訊的任何一種這些版式的版本,請聯繫我們,電話號碼是 0800 479 7979.

Si vous nous le demandez, nous pouvons vous remettre ces informations en d'autres langues, en braille ou sur cassette. Si vous souhaitez que ces informations vous soient fournies sous l'un de ces formats, contactez-nous en composant le 0800 479 7979.

چنانچه مایل باشید می توانید این مطالب را به فارسی یا زبان های دیگر و همچنین بریل و یا بر روی نوار کاست دریافت دارید. در صورت نیاز خواهشمندیم با شماره تلفن 7979 479 0800 با ما تماس مگر بد.

ਜੇ ਤੁਸੀਂ ਸਾਨੂੰ ਬੇਨਤੀ ਕਰੋਂ ਤਾਂ ਅਸੀਂ ਤੁਹਾਨੂੰ ਇਹ ਜਾਣਕਾਰੀ ਹੋਰ ਭਾਸ਼ਾਵਾਂ, ਬ੍ਰੇਲ (ਨੇਤ੍ਹੀਣਾਂ ਲਈ ਭਾਸ਼ਾ) ਵਿੱਚ, ਜਾਂ ਟੇਪ ਉਪਰ ਦੇ ਸਕਦੇ ਹਾਂ। ਜੇ ਤੁਹਾਨੂੰ ਇਨ੍ਹਾਂ ਵਿੱਚੋਂ ਕਿਸੇ ਰੂਪ ਵਿੱਚ ਚਾਹੀਦੀ ਹੋਵੇ, ਤਾਂ ਕਿਰਪਾ ਕਰਕੇ ਸਾਡੇ ਨਾਲ 0800 479 7979 ਨੰਬਰ ਤੇ ਸੰਪਰਕ ਕਰੋ।

Na Pana/Pani życzenie możemy zapewnić te informacje w innych językach, alfabetem Braille'a lub na kasecie. Jeśli chciał(a)by Pan(i) uzyskać te informacje w którejś z tych form, prosimy skontaktować się z nami pod numerem telefonu 0800 479 7979.

Haddii aad na weydiisato waxaanu warbixintan kugu siin karaa iyadoo ku qoran luuqad kale, farta ay dadka indhaha la' akhriyaan ama cajalad ku duuban. Haddii aad jeclaan lahayd in warbxintan lagugu siiyo mid ka mid ah qaababkaas, fadlan nagala soo xidhiidh telefoonka 0800 479 7979.

По вашей просьбе данная информация может быть предоставлена на других языках, шрифтом Брайля или в аудиозаписи. Если вам требуется информация в одном из этих форматов, позвоните нам по номеру 0800 479 7979.

Approval body	Group Board
Date of approval	25 August 2022
Review Year	2025
Customer engagement required	No
Trade union engagement required	No
Equality Impact Assessment	No

Record of Amendments

Date Approved by Wheatley Group Board and Designated	26 th April 2017
as a Group Policy	20 7 (311)
Date Amended	1 st April 2019
Date Policy Reviewed	July 2022
Amendments	
Revised to incorporate new Group strategy	Section 1, Section 6, Section 6.1 & Section 7
Revised to incorporate most recent figures of Registered Sex Offenders in Scotland	Section 1, Section 2.2
Revised to update job title of team non-RSL requests should be directed to – Group Information Governance Team - and full details of legislation included	Section 2, Section 5 & Section 6.4
Revised to include reference to GDPR and Data Protection Act 2018	Section 2, Section 3.2, Section 5, Section 6.4 & Section 8
Revised to expand on the nature of registered sex offenders and dispel some of the myths associated with this type of offending	Section 2.1
Revised to include the improved community care allocations process for restricted patients returning to the community	Section 2.1
Revised to take cognisance that there is now a Group Protection Team available for support and no longer only a Group Protection Liaison Manager	Section 2.6, Section 5, Section 6.1 & Section 6.5
Revised to include the statement 'or engage in antisocial behaviour' which is also an area to suggest risk to tenancy	Section 3.2
Revised to include reference to the training and guidance that will be available to support staff in dealing with MAPPA across our communities and the W.E Care model to support customers as necessary	Section 3.2
Revised to remove reference to short term NASSO working group which has concluded	Section 4.2
Revised to include reference to Wheatley 360	Section 6.1
Updated to include the Sex Offender Policing Unit at Police Scotland, who are a key point of liaison for the Group Protection Team	Section 6.1
Revised to include example of increased use of our Wheatley 360 Safe and Secure service for MAPPA offenders	Section 6.2
Revised to incorporate rebrand of subsidiary name change to Wheatley Care	Section 6.3
Deletion of reference to Scottish Government Shortlife Working Group to review Environmental Risk Assessment Process – this was concluded in November 2017	Section 6.6

Revised to include the reference to potential of pregnancy to also include the tenants partner and that this information is reported in to the responsible authorities	Section 6.6
Revised to remove comment regarding change of circumstances being picked up at the latest at the annual review at suggestion by legal colleagues	Section 6.6
Added a new section to incorporate information on registered sex offenders having their status outed within the community	Section 6.8
Moved previous section 6.8 (information on the community sex offender disclosure scheme) to section 6.9 and included further information on the use of the keeping children safe scheme to support customers, to strengthen this	Section 6.9
Added another measure of success as responsible authorities being able to effectively manage risk through our duty to cooperate function	Section 7
Revised to include the updated modifications to the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 which are contained within the Children (Scotland) Act 2020 and are coming into force soon. Also updated newer versions of Scottish Government guidance documents under the strategic drivers section.	Section 8
Revised to reflect change to staff performance tool from My Contribution to My Appraisal and to include information on Group Protection activity (including Group Protection Matters bulletin), use of online learning portals for delivery and access to centres of excellence.	Section 10
Updated to confirm Performance Management Framework established and utilised to monitor trends and engage with responsible authorities	Section 11
Revised to incorporate the correct section of the Group GDPR policy that must be considered which is appendix 2 and not appendix 3	Section 12
Update to reflect that the work of Group Protection ties into the network of CoE's across Group and isn't specific to Protecting Communities CoE. Also updated confirming information is regularly shared in Group Protection bulletin	Section 13
Deletion of reference to complaints procedure being available at local offices in line with new operating model	Section 14
Revised to update description to 'registered sex offender' (RSO) from original description of 'sex offender'	Throughout
Revised to update description from 'under MAPPA' to 'managed under MAPPA'	Throughout
Section added to include references to data and information provided throughout the document	Endnotes

Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. What is MAPPA?
- 3. Policy Aims and Objectives
- 4. Our Role
- 5. Duty to Co-operate
- 6. Designing and Delivering Services
- 7. How we will Know we are Making a Positive Impact on our Customers Lives and in our Communities
- 8. Legislation and Strategic Drivers
- 9. Policy Review and Consultation
- 10. Support, Procedures, Awareness and Training
- 11. Performance Monitoring and Reporting
- 12. Confidentiality and Data Protection
- 13. Engagement and Communication
- 14. Complaints

1. Introduction

The Wheatley Group's (The Group) Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) Policy is part of a suite of policies within our Protecting People Policy Framework (PPPF). The PPPF is our Group wide approach to keeping our communities safe and provides us with a strong platform for sharing learning and best practice across all subsidiaries. The other policies within the framework are:

- Child Protection;
- · Adult Support and Protection; and
- Domestic Abuse

The strategic aim of all policies within our PPPF is to ensure that: we work with customers, staff, and partners to make homes and lives better and safer for all, and that we design and deliver services to minimise the risk of harm and abuse within our communities.

Our ability to work with our communities to prevent and respond appropriately to their priorities will be key to achieving our strategic themes of delivering exceptional customer experience and changing lives and communities set out within Your Home, Your Community, Your Future, and cement our reputation as one of the UK's leading customer focused organisations.

Our customers have told us that feeling safe and secure in their home and community is extremely important to them and this, in turn impacts on local demand and community stability. Our PPPF, and the suite of policies within it, support our customers' priority of feeling safe and defines our role in achieving that outcome.

We know that the public have a general fear of offending behaviour, and in particular sexual offences. Robust partnership arrangements for managing the potential risk these offenders pose will promote feelings of safety within our communities.

As of 31st May 2022, there were 6,188 Registered Sex Offenders in Scotland. This is broken down to 4,565 Registered Sex Offenders residing within the community and 1,623 Registered Sex Offenders in custody or hospital _{1.} The number of sexual crimes recorded by Police Scotland during 2020/2021 was 13,131, representing a decrease of 2% compared to the previous year _{2.}

The number of MAPPA offenders residing in Wheatley communities is mirroring the national trend. This highlights the importance of working effectively with partners to keep people safe and reduce the risk of harm.

The Group is committed to supporting partner agencies who have the statutory responsibility for managing the risk posed by offenders managed under MAPPA, as we firmly believe that we should do all we can to ensure our communities are safe and protected from harm. As such this policy will detail the way in which we will design and deliver services to minimise the risk to our communities.

Through the development, implementation and monitoring of our MAPPA Policy, along with the other policies within the PPPF, we will define what it really means to keep our communities safe and set sector leading standards in Group Protection service areas.

This MAPPA Policy provides information to customers, staff, and partners in relation to how we will work together to support and protect people in our communities. It will focus more heavily on the management of registered sex offenders due to that being the largest category of offender managed under MAPPA.

2. What is MAPPA?

The Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) are a set of statutory partnership working arrangements introduced in 2007 by virtue of Sections 10 and 11 of the Management of Offenders etc. (Scotland) Act 2005 (The 2005 Act).

The fundamental purpose of MAPPA is public protection and managing the risk of serious harm. MAPPA is not a statutory body in itself but is a mechanism through which the responsible authorities discharge their statutory responsibilities and protect the public in a coordinated manner.

The 2005 Act places a statutory duty on the responsible authorities in a local authority area to jointly establish arrangements for assessing and managing the risk posed by certain categories of offenders.

Responsible Authorities are: Police Scotland, The Local Authority (Criminal Justice Social Work), The Health Board and The Scottish Prison Service (SPS).

The Management of Offenders etc (Scotland) Act 2005 (Specification of Persons) Order 2007 provides for agencies that have a duty to cooperate with the responsible authorities in relation to the management of offenders. Registers Social Landlords (RSLs) are named as duty to cooperate agencies. The duty to cooperate extends to information sharing requiring the two-way cooperation between the responsible authority and duty to cooperate agency.

Our non RSL subsidiaries are not specifically named as having a duty to cooperate within the Management of Offenders etc (Scotland) Act 2005 (Specification of Persons) Order 2007. Requests for information to non-RSL subsidiaries must be referred to the Group Information Governance Team who will consider the request in accordance with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018.

2.1 Categories of Offender Managed Under MAPPA

There are currently three types of offenders who are managed under MAPPA. These are:

Registered Sex Offenders – those offenders convicted of an offence listed in Schedule 3 of the Sexual Offences Act 2003 and required to comply with sex offender notification requirements (SONR) set out in part 2 of the 2003 Act. It also includes those made subject of a Sexual Offences Prevention Order (SOPO) or are convicted of a breach of Risk of Sexual Harm Order (RSHO).

Most offenders managed under MAPPA are those who are referred to as registered sex offenders, who can, and do, reside in all tenures. There is no such thing as a typical registered sex offender – they come from all walks of life and can be both male and female. It is important to note that not all registered sex offenders present a risk of sexual harm to children, as not all registered sex offenders commit sexual crimes against children.

Mentally Disordered Restricted Patients - They are commonly referred to as restricted patients; this is a patient subject to any of the following orders or directions:

- Patients who are detained following conviction under section 57A and section 59 of the Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995;
- Patients who are detained under section 57(2)(a) and (b) of the Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995 Compulsion order with a Restriction Order following a finding of unfitness for trial or acquittal by reason of mental disorder; and
- Prisoners detained in hospital on a Hospital Direction under section 59A of the Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995 or a transferred prisoner on a Transfer for Treatment Direction under section 136 of the Mental Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003.

Restricted patients are persons detained in hospital under a compulsion order with a restriction order. They have usually committed an offence punishable by imprisonment but because of mental disorder are not imprisoned, but ordered to be detained in hospital for treatment, without limit of time. They are dealt with through a programme of treatment and rehabilitation - the aim being to prevent recurrence of offending by dealing with the mental disorder.

There are approximately 290 restricted patients in Scotland at any one time. Just over half are detained in the State Hospital, with the remainder detained in local psychiatric hospitals or living in the community on conditional discharge. (Scottish Government website)

Treatment plans for restricted patients are geared to individual circumstances and reflect the health and safety requirements of the patient, issues in relation to victims and their families and public safety considerations.

The number of restricted patients in our communities is extremely small. Our RSL subsidiaries will most likely come into contact with restricted patients as they prepare to return to the community and wish to access our housing lists.

We have streamlined and improved our Community Care Allocations Process for Restricted Patients who are returning to the community. This process will be monitored to ensure positive outcomes are consistently being achieved and tenancies are being sustained.

Other Risk of Serious Harm Offenders – This category only commenced on 31 March 2016 and relates to offenders not required to comply with the SONR or a mentally disordered restricted patient, but who, by reason of their conviction, are subject to supervision in the community by any enactment, order, or licence, are assessed by the responsible authorities as posing a high or very high risk of serious harm to the public, which requires active multi agency involvement at MAPPA level 2 or 3 (see section 2.2).

2.2 Levels of Risk Management

There are 3 levels at which risk can be managed under MAPPA these are:

- Level 1: routine risk management (4,234)*;
- Level 2: multi-agency risk management (115)*;
- Level 3: Multi Agency Public Protection Panels (MAPPP) (2)*.

*(The number in brackets indicates the number of sex offenders managed at liberty at that level on 31 March 2021 across Scotland) 3.

Level 1 management is not applicable to Other Risk of Serious Harm Offenders, as this category means that a significant risk of serious harm exists, which requires active multi agency management at MAPPA levels 2 and 3.

The adoption of the three management levels allows for a consistent approach to MAPPA. The risk management structure is based on the principle that cases should be managed at the lowest MAPPA level proportionate with delivering a defensible risk management plan designed to address the risk of serious harm posed by the offender.

Within each level, the responsible authorities must then determine the level of risk of serious harm posed by the offender, i.e. low, medium, high, very high.

- 2.3 Risk of serious harm is defined as; the likelihood of harmful behaviour of a violent or sexual nature, which is life threatening and/or traumatic, and from which recovery, whether physical or psychological, may reasonably be expected to be difficult or impossible 4.
- 2.4 For MAPPA purposes the imminence and likelihood of risk of serious harm is classified as follows:
 - **Very high:** there is an imminent risk of serious harm. The potential event is more likely than not to happen imminently, and the impact would be serious;
 - **High:** there are identifiable indicators of risk of serious harm. The potential event could happen at any time and the impact would be serious;
 - Medium: there are identifiable indicators of serious harm. The offender has the
 potential to cause such harm, but is unlikely to do so unless there is a change
 in circumstances, for example failure to take medication, loss of
 accommodation, relationship breakdown, drug or alcohol misuse; and
 - Low: current evidence does not indicate likelihood of causing serious harm.
- 2.5 Both the level at which an offender is managed and their risk classification within that is dynamic and changes over time. If factors change which may affect the risk and the risk management planning of any offender in MAPPA, then it is vital that there are effective information sharing arrangements and processes in place to ensure these factors can be taken into consideration by the responsible authorities.
- 2.6 The main way in which staff within the Group share information with the responsible authorities is via the dedicated RSL Link Officer, taking account of established information sharing arrangements and processes. For the Group this is the Group Protection Liaison Manager and wider Group Protection Team, based within the Wheatley 360 subsidiary.

3. Policy Aims and Objectives

3.1 Our Aim

We will work with customers, staff, and partners to make homes and lives better and safer for all. We will design and deliver services to minimise the risk of harm and abuse within our communities.

3.2 Our Objectives

We will achieve our aim and strategic vision by successfully implementing the following objectives across all subsidiaries:

- Where possible we will implement processes to **prevent** situations where harm may arise;
- We will ensure our policies and processes are fit for purpose and promote and support guidance contained within the national MAPPA Guidance and NASSO, including guidance on information sharing arrangements;
- We will build robust risk mitigation processes into our policies, for example, we
 will further develop our allocation processes to, and around, high risk offenders,
 embedding this across our RSL subsidiaries;
- We will work in partnership with the responsible authorities to effectively discharge our obligations in our role as a duty to cooperate agency for RSL subsidiaries and proactively work to develop those relationships through regular partnership meetings;
- We will embed a culture of early intervention when sharing information relevant to managing the risk offenders pose, for example, if an offender begins to accrue rent arrears or engage in antisocial behaviour and their home is at risk, the Group Protection Team will keep the responsible authorities advised at each stage of our escalation process;
- We will raise awareness of MAPPA and ensure everyone who is employed or involved in our organisation is aware of this. Leaders within the organisation will support and promote this;
- We will ensure staff are **skilled**, **educated and informed** in dealing with MAPPA across our communities, through robust training, guidance documents and information supplied by the Group Protection Team;
- Our approach will strike the balance of being sufficiently flexible to ensure we have public protection at the heart of our processes, while ensuring a level of consistency in the implementation of this policy; and
- We will develop trend monitoring frameworks and actively work with partners, where possible, to ensure our communities are not adversely disadvantaged in the housing of offenders;
- Through our groundbreaking W.E. Care approach we will ensure we are in a unique position to access support for all customers, not just the needs of those in traditional care groups.

Before we share personal information, we will consider <u>all</u> the legal implications of doing so, in particular the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018.

4. Our Role

4.1 Duty to Cooperate – RSL subsidiaries

Our RSL subsidiaries, in their role as a duty to cooperate agency, do not themselves have responsibility for assessing and managing risk. Instead, the role of RSLs is to contribute to the responsible authorities' management of risk by:

- Exchanging information on housing with the responsible authorities;
- Allocating housing that has been assessed as suitable by the responsible authorities:
- Liaising with the responsible authorities to support their ongoing management and monitoring of the risk the offender may pose; and
- Having in place arrangements with the Sex Offender Liaison Officer and the other responsible authorities to deal with situations where a property is no longer suitable.

4.2 National Accommodation Strategy for Sex Offenders (NASSO)

The clear and consistent advice from experts is that stable housing and effective monitoring make a key contribution to minimising the risk registered sex offenders managed under MAPPA pose. It is also recognised that registered sex offenders can and do reside in all tenures across Scotland. For that reason, a guidance document specifically detailing the role of housing providers was developed.

NASSO forms part of MAPPA and explains how housing organisations contribute to those arrangements. In particular, the NASSO focusses on assessing and managing the risks that sex offenders managed under MAPPA may pose by living in a particular community, location, and property.

The Key principles the NASSO is founded upon are:

- Registered sex offenders managed under MAPPA cannot be excluded from housing. Blanket exclusion of such offenders is illegal (everyone over the age of 16 in Scotland has the right to be admitted to a housing waiting list or register), while their suspension from receiving offers of housing will undermine risk management arrangements by for example, potentially increasing the risk of an offender going missing;
- Social housing providers should not give registered sex offenders managed under MAPPA priority for housing merely because they are such offenders. But registered sex offenders may be allocated housing where the responsible authorities have assessed them as being a risk and providing housing would minimise the risk. Any decision to provide housing for a registered sex offender is in the context of managing risk and improving public safety; and
- Registered sex offenders managed under MAPPA should normally be housed in mainstream housing within the local authority area from which they originate, although exceptional circumstances may occasionally mean that arrangements are made to house an offender in other local authority areas.

5. Duty to Co-operate – RSL subsidiaries

We recognise that we will routinely share information relevant to managing the risk registered sex offenders pose. On the basis of information sharing arrangements, together with supporting processes and guidance, we will make an assessment whether to report our concerns to the appropriate responsible authority. This should not be used as a substitute for calling police where there is a threat or risk of harm to our customers. When there is a threat or risk of harm this must always be reported to police by calling 101 or 999 depending on the circumstances.

Those employed or involved in our organisation have a responsibility to act to make sure a child, young person, or adult whose safety or welfare may be at risk is protected from harm.

If we are passing on concerns reported to us by a third party (e.g. neighbour) or disclosures by the victim, it is good practice to advise the person making the disclosure that concerns are being reported under our duty of care and duty to co-operate requirements, but this may not always be possible.

If staff are in any doubt, they should discuss this with their line manager and/or the Group Protection Team.

The NASSO does make reference to private landlords, stating that the provision of information to private landlords is a matter for the police who have discretion on a case-by-case basis. As non RSL subsidiaries are not specifically named as having a duty to cooperate within The Management of Offenders etc (Scotland) Act 2005 (Specification of Persons) Order 2007; requests for information from non-RSL subsidiaries **must** be referred to the Group Information Governance Team, who will consider the request in accordance with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018.

6. Designing and Delivering Services

Our Your Home, Your Community, Your Future Strategy demonstrates our continued focus on providing excellent homes, services and products and the benefits of coming together as Wheatley to learn from our joint experience and expertise to implement our shared learning.

Some of the ways in which we will work to implement shared learning and good practice across Group, with the focus of minimising the risk offenders pose in our communities are detailed below:

6.1 Group Protection Team

Within The Group we have a dedicated RSL Link Officer (Group Protection Liaison Manager) who forms part of Wheatley 360; our wraparound support division, that designs and facilitates the delivery of sector leading products and services, *making homes and lives better from every angle*. The Group Protection Liaison Manager will work in partnership with the responsible authorities to keep our communities safe.

The Group Protection Liaison Manager has a focus of driving forward the strategic outcomes contained in Your Home, Your Community, Your Future and creating the best solutions for all customers in relation to MAPPA. In addition to the strategic focus, there is also an operational focus responding to the management of offenders in our communities. This includes liaising with the Sex Offender Liaison Officers (SOLO) and Sex Offender Policing Units (SOPU) in each of the local authority areas where we have a presence.

The Group Protection Liaison Manager is supported by a Group Protection Team, who are a Group wide resource and assume the responsibility for the day-to-day management of MAPPA cases residing within our stock, and conduct actions associated with all necessary established processes to continue to keep our customers and communities safe from harm.

6.2 Personalised Customer Service Outcomes

Our vision for 2021 - 2026 is to deliver outstanding personalised customer service – putting our customers in control of how they engage with us by offering a unique service mix. To deliver excellent services for our customers, we need to understand who our customers are and what services they need and want.

MAPPA offenders represent an increasing section of our customer base. We know they can face additional barriers in accessing services, for example, they may have court orders prohibiting them from accessing online services. We've seen an increase in MAPPA customers accessing our Wheatley 360 safe and secure service; accessing home safety advice, guidance, and products, to enhance their feeling of safety and security within their home.

Through our appropriately differentiated range of products that can be delivered to meet the needs of our customers, we can design and deliver service outcomes for these customers, for example, restricted patients are detained in hospital and can have difficulty accessing our services in their preparation for discharge. For those customers we take our service to them, offering interviews in hospital, taking them through each stage of the process to access housing, and place notes of interest on properties on their behalf. The personalisation of this process greatly assists their rehabilitation and preparation for discharge.

6.3 W.E. Care

We recognise that while offenders can pose a risk in our communities, they themselves can be vulnerable and can also require support. Our unique W.E. Care model delivers a personalised service for all customers. The model focuses on maintaining and maximising well-being, safety and or self-reliance, supporting people through life transitions, managing risks, and building lasting relationships.

We will draw down on this support as and when required to support our customers who are subject to monitoring under MAPPA.

Our specialist teams within Wheatley Care will receive MAPPA Awareness Sessions to ensure they are fully aware of the way in which their role can support the responsible authorities to manage the risk an offender poses.

6.4 Sharing Information

Under The 2005 Act, the responsible authorities must co-operate with each other and with other key agencies placed under a duty to co-operate. The key agencies under a duty to co-operate include RSL subsidiaries. Our RSL subsidiaries do not assess and manage risks, but they do have to co-operate with those who do. The information our RSL subsidiaries hold is central to the assessment and management of risk. Co-operation includes, but is not restricted to, the exchange of information.

We will work with partners within MAPPA to develop and subsequently review detailed information sharing protocols under which the flow of information is to be managed, to ensure each agency is clear about and addresses their legal obligations for sharing of information under the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018 and other legislation. In addition, we will develop detailed training, supporting processes, procedures, and guidance for our staff.

Our non RSL subsidiaries are not specifically named as having duty to cooperate within The Management of Offenders etc (Scotland) Act 2005 (Specification of Persons) Order 2007. Requests for information to non-RSL subsidiaries **must** be referred to the Information Governance Team who will consider the request in accordance with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018.

6.5 Access to Housing

MyHousing, our Housing Information, Advice and Letting Platform asks if the applicant or any member of their household is a registered sex offender. There are processes in place to liaise with Sex Offender Liaison Officers when housing applications are received, and this question confirms they are managed under MAPPA.

Restricted patients will generally access our housing lists as they near discharge from hospital, and these cases are managed within the Group Protection Team, with robust processes in place to consider and facilitate any proposed moves. The relevant referral forms ask if the applicant is a restricted patient and provides guidance for staff completing the forms (the number of restricted patients accessing our waiting lists is extremely low).

Environmental Risk Assessments are undertaken on any potential offer of housing where a registered sex offender or restricted patient forms part of the household composition. If the responsible authorities advise they would be unable to manage the risk posed by the offender at that particular address, then the offer will not proceed.

On occasion when the offender poses a particular risk or there are concerns with specific areas, a housing options interview will be undertaken to discuss realistic and safe housing prospects.

To ensure our housing lists are as accessible as possible, the Group Protection Team supports any registered sex offenders in temporary accommodation to make notes of interest on properties where a referral under section 5 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 2001 has been accepted. The Group Protection Team will also support any restricted patients who wish to make notes of interest.

6.6 Allocation of a Property in Close Proximity to an Offender

Once an offender has moved into a property that has been assessed as manageable, an alert will be added to the property to highlight additional checks that will be required when another property in close proximity becomes void.

We acknowledge that we cannot control 100% of allocations in close proximity to offenders, for example, if a neighbouring property is privately rented or owned. We also acknowledge that we cannot control certain changes in circumstances within neighbouring households, for example, a tenant moves a friend or partner into the tenancy, or the tenant or partner becomes pregnant. In this scenario, where possible we will highlight the change in circumstances to the responsible authorities as timeously as possible.

6.7 Existing Tenants who Become Subject to MAPPA

When an existing tenant is convicted and becomes an offender managed under MAPPA, we will share information with the responsible authorities in relation to surrounding households in accordance with our protocols, processes, and guidance. If the responsible authorities do not assess the current property as manageable, we will work with both the responsible authorities and the offender to engage our housing options model. We will actively work to find a solution, for example, source alternative accommodation where the offender's risk can be managed.

6.8 Status outing of Registered Sex Offenders

There are occasions when registered sex offenders managed under MAPPA have their status and whereabouts uncovered within the wider community, including through press/social media reporting, community knowledge of the offending, self-disclosure, or vigilante sex offender hunting groups. There is a robust process in place to manage these situations, which is led and overseen by the Group Protection Team, who assume responsibility to liaise with the responsible authorities to establish the most preferable course of action and implement any agreed plans.

In cases when it is no longer safe for the registered sex offender (and their immediate family if applicable) to remain within the property, for this or any other reason, a housing options approach will be adopted in collaboration with the responsible authorities, to undertake a risk assessment on the situation. If a Band A Management Transfer is proposed as the preferred option for the customer, then frontline staff must refer to the updated Band A guidance, where clear advice on this process for individuals managed under MAPPA is contained.

For those cases where the tenant choses to remain within the property, or it is deemed safe/preferable by the responsible authorities for them to do so; then access to Group wraparound supports, including the Safe and Secure Home Safety Service, will be offered and arranged, as well as any further recommended security or safety measures available across Group (eg door chains, securing lighting). Responsible authorities will also implement any necessary safety measures in these circumstances, including adding an urgent response marker against the property (STORM marker), to ensure any calls to Police Scotland relating to the property are given a priority police response.

6.9 Promotion of the Sex Offender Community Disclosure Scheme (Keeping Children Safe)

The Keeping Children Safe scheme was introduced across Scotland in 2011 and is managed by Police Scotland. The scheme encourages members of the public to apply for information about an individual who has access to a child, if they are concerned that the individual poses a risk to a child's safety and wellbeing. Work continues to be undertaken to enhance the public profile of the scheme, to ensure that it remains a key contributor to the protection of children. We will fully support this work.

In cases where status outing of a registered sex offender or suspected offender occurs; providing information on the keeping children safe scheme can be utilised by frontline staff when customers contact them to raise concerns around the individual in question and potential access to children. Full details of the scheme can be found on the Protecting People WE Connect page and at https://www.scotland.police.uk/advice-and-information/child-abuse/the-sex-offender-community-disclosure/

7. How we will Know we are Making a Positive Impact on our Customers Lives and in our Communities

We will know we are making a positive impact on our customers' lives and our communities when:

- Our communities are safer places through our implementation of processes to proactively mitigate risk;
- Our staff are confident in dealing with all aspects of MAPPA, ensuring we are fulfilling our duty to cooperate function;
- We have appropriate pathways and referral systems in place to ensure customers are getting the right support at the right time, first time; and
- We are realising the vision and outcomes contained within our Your Home, Your Community, Your Future strategy;
- Responsible authorities can effectively manage risk resulting from partnership working demonstrated through our duty to cooperate function.

8. Legislation and Strategic Drivers

This policy framework has been developed considering relevant legislation and guidance:

- Management of Offenders etc. (Scotland) Act 2005;
- Children (Scotland) Act 1995;
- Children (Scotland) Act 2020;
- Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 2014;
- Adult Support and Protection (Scotland) Act 2007;
- Abusive Behaviour and Sexual Harm (Scotland) Act 2016;
- Housing (Scotland) Act 2001;
- Housing (Scotland) Act 2014;

- General Data Protection Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/679)
- The Data Protection Act 2018

Strategic Drivers

- Scottish Government MAPPA National Guidance 2022; and
- Scottish Government National Accommodation Strategy for Sex Offenders 2019.

9. Policy Review & Consultation

We will review this policy every three years. Reviews will consider legislative, performance and good practice changes.

More regular reviews may be considered where, for example, there is a need to respond to new legislation / policy guidance or any recommendations from significant case reviews.

We have developed this policy in consultation with key stakeholders. Similar consultation will take place for all proposed policy reviews.

10. Support, Procedures, Awareness and Training

To enable us to protect the most vulnerable people in our communities, all staff will be made aware of the existence of this policy, their responsibilities, and the benefits of delivering this policy.

Training needs of staff across the organisation will be informed by insight from collaborative working between colleagues from Group Protection and Wheatley Academy, based on information from My Appraisal, the Groups skills analysis and employee performance review tool.

Where skill gaps are identified, training by both external partners and key internal personnel will be provided for MAPPA and wider Group Protection issues through our Centres of Excellence and our online learning portals. The Group Protection Team will also host regular overview sessions, surgeries, or case discussions as/when required for teams when there are either identified issues, or on request, to continue to build resilience and confidence in this area for staff.

Regular blogs will be added to Wheatley Group Intranet Systems to ensure staff awareness levels are maintained, and the Group Protection Matters Bulletins will be issued to all frontline teams with information on MAPPA featuring regularly

Staff will be supported by our Group Protection Team and supplied with clear written pathways, a quick reference guide and a detailed toolkit on how and where to report concerns.

Clear leadership and accountability mechanisms will be established, these will be complemented with robust governance arrangements.

11. Performance Monitoring and Reporting

The Group Protection Team have developed a Performance Monitoring Framework to capture information on MAPPA cases across Group and routinely provide management information on all areas of importance and relevance pertaining to MAPPA cases.

We use trend analysis from the Performance Monitoring Framework to inform our future allocation of resources, identify training and support needs and effectively engage with the responsible authorities as part of the NASSO and MAPPA process on allocations matters.

12. Confidentiality and Data Protection

Those employed or involved in our subsidiaries have a responsibility to act to make sure that a child, young person, or adult whose safety or welfare may be at risk is protected from harm.

In certain circumstances (and subject strictly to conditions set out in the Data Protection Act 2018, General Data Protection Regulations, and any other applicable data protection legislation) personal information may be shared by the Group with other organisations and partners. Before the Group can share personal information, it must consider <u>all</u> legal implications of doing so, not simply the terms of applicable legislative requirements. Appendix 2 of Wheatley Group Data Protection Policy must be considered.

Once a decision has been made as to whether information should be shared, that decision must be recorded, together with the reasoning behind that decision. Where a decision was taken to share the information, this will be on a "need to know" basis and an audit trail must be kept.

Staff members must consult the Wheatley Group Data Protection Policy and if in doubt will seek advice from the Group Information Governance Team.

13. Engagement and Communication

Within the Wheatley Group we have Communities of Excellence (CoE) which consist of various members of staff from across the Group. Our CoE networks are at the heart of our Group wide ecosystem of innovation, generating learning ideas from across Group and learning from other sectors.

One of the key ways we will engage and communicate with staff in relation to this policy is through the network of CoE's. Through the CoE we will develop effective feedback loops between frontline staff and senior management. This will be the main channel for open and effective communication on the implementation of the policy. Any blockages hindering the delivery of this policy will also be addressed through the CoE.

One of the main interdependencies for the MAPPA Policy is our Information, Advice and Letting Policy Framework. The Allocations and Homelessness CoE will be the main driving force to review and update our policies regarding housing to, and managing allocations around, offenders managed under MAPPA. Regular MAPPA updates will be included in the Allocations Bulletins: our main internal communication method updating staff on key changes or issues affecting allocations and in the Group Protection Matters Bulletin.

14. Complaints

Our aim is to get it right first time, however, where there is dissatisfaction with this policy or its operation, customers can make a complaint.

A summary of our Complaints Policy and Procedure is available on our Group and subsidiary websites.

Endnotes

- 1 Registered Sex Offender numbers in Scotland as of 31st May 2022

 https://www.scotland.police.uk/about-us/what-we-do/specialist-crime-division/sex-offender-policing-units/registered-sex-offender-rso-information/
- 2 Sexual Crime figures recorded in Scotland 2020/2021

 https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/statistics/2021
 /09/recorded-crime-scotland-2020-2021/documents/recorded-crime-scotland-202021/recorded-crime-scotland-2020-21/govscot%3Adocument/recorded-crime-scotland-2020-21.pdf?forceDownload=true
- 3 MAPPA figures for 2020-2021

 https://www.gov.scot/publications/multi-agency-public-protection-arrangements-mappa-overview-report-2020-to-2021/documents/
- Risk of serious harm definition comes from the Framework for Risk Assessment,
 Management and Evaluation guidance (FRAME)

 FRAME: building a framework for risk management (rma.scot)